## VR for Pain Relief



Marta Matamala-Gomez, Tony Donegan, and Justyna Świdrak

### Contents

1 Introduction

### 2 VR and Pain

- 2.1 Evidence for Using Immersive VR for Pain Distraction
- 2.2 Evidence for Using Virtual Embodiment for Pain Relief
- 3 Creating Effective Analgesic VR Illusions

### 4 Current Trends and Future Directions of IVR in the Field of Pain

- 4.1 Recent Developments in IVR and Biosignal Research
- 4.2 VR for Pain Psychotherapy
- 4.3 Immersive VR for Cancer Pain, Palliative, and Intensive Care
- 4.4 VR for Pain Diagnosis and Simulation
- 5 Conclusions

References

**Abstract** The present chapter explores how immersive virtual reality (VR) systems can be used for pain research and treatment. Pain is a universal, yet entirely subjective and multifaceted unpleasant experience. One of the earliest VR studies

M. Matamala-Gomez (🖂)

Cognition and Brain Plasticity Group, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: marta.matamala@ub.edu

T. Donegan

Cortical Networks and Virtual Environments in Neuroscience Lab, IDIBAPS, Barcelona, Spain

J. Świdrak

Cortical Networks and Virtual Environments in Neuroscience Lab, IDIBAPS, Barcelona, Spain

Experimental Virtual Environments for Neuroscience and Technology, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Institute of Psychology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2022\_402

Department of Cognition, Development and Educational Psychology, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Experimental Virtual Environments for Neuroscience and Technology, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

on pain highlighted the role of attention in pain modulation. However, the role of body representation in pain modulation has also been described as a crucial factor. Through virtual reality systems, it is possible to modulate both attention to pain and body representation. In this chapter, first we define how immersive VR can be used to create the illusion of being present in immersive VR environments and argue why VR can be an effective tool for distracting patients from acute pain. However, distraction seems to be less useful in chronic pain treatment. Chronic pain can be highly disabling and can significantly impact not only the sufferer's quality of life, but also their perceptions of the bodily self. Close neural connections between the body matrix and pain open a chance for influencing pain through bodily illusions. This chapter explores approaches to inducing body ownership illusions in VR and discusses how they have been applied in pain research. The present chapter also covers a set of practical indications and methodological caveats of immersive VR and solutions for overcoming them. Finally, we outline several promising future research directions and highlight several yet unexplored areas.

Keywords Body representation · Embodiment · Pain relief · Virtual reality

### 1 Introduction

In 1965, Ronald Melzack and Pat Wall transformed the current views on pain with the introduction of gate control theory (Melzack and Wall 1965), which argued that the brain plays a crucial role in pain perception, as it filters, selects, and modulates the inputs arriving at or produced by the body (Melzack 1999a, b). The theory postulated that pain perception is not a simple sensory stimulus-response model, as our previous Cartesian understanding suggested, but a complex process in which the brain contributes not only to the ultimate perception of pain, but also to the nature of pain itself.

The primary purpose of pain is protection. It motivates the organism to stop what it is doing and seek help. From an experiential point of view then, pain is necessarily unpleasant (Merskey 2002) and demands attention (Eccleston and Crombez 1999). Further, pain reduces cortical processing capacity (Derbyshire et al. 1998), induces slowed decision-making (Crombez et al. 1996), and increases cognitive error rates (Buckelew et al. 1986). In addition, it modifies immune activity (Watkins and Maier 2000), the activity of the hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal axes, and alters the sympathetic nervous system (Melzack 1999a, b), as well as reducing reproductive system function (Rivier 1995), and activating visuo-motor systems (Price 1999). From a neurobiological point of view, the following brain areas were previously thought to be pain specific: the primary (S1) and secondary (S2) somatosensory cortices, the insula, and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (Iannetti and Mouraux 2010). This extensive network is known as the "pain matrix" for mediating pain experience itself (Ploghaus et al. 1999), although activation of these areas has subsequently been shown in other non-painful but strong sensory stimuli (Salomons et al. 2016).

In this regard, the concept of a pain matrix is often used to understand the neural mechanisms of pain in health and disease. For instance, it is known that chronic pain conditions, where pain persists for longer than 3 months, are associated with changes in the structure of the brain as a result of central plasticity (May 2008). Indeed, there is evidence demonstrating an altered localized brain chemistry and functional reorganization of cortical networks in patients suffering from chronic back pain (Flor 2003). Neuroplastic changes related to function, chemical profile, or structure during chronic pain conditions have been described for both the peripheral and central nervous systems in terms of reorganization of receptors and ion channels, changes in neurotransmitters at the peripheral level, and functional changes in cortical representational fields at the central level (May 2008; Yang and Chang 2019) Other examples of neuroplastic change due to chronic pain include spinal cord sensitization or disinhibition and the interaction of the nervous system with the immune system and higher cognitive functions (May 2008).

Accordingly, a large number of studies suggest that cortical reorganization takes place at a functional level in patients suffering from chronic pain conditions, such as in amputee patients with phantom limb pain (Flor et al. 1995), and in patients with chronic back pain (Flor et al. 1997). Moreover, such functional cortical reorganization has also been shown in patients with complex regional pain syndrome, in which a shrinkage of the representational field in the brain of the affected arm was found and was highly correlated with pain intensity (Maihöfner et al. 2003; Pleger et al. 2004) although this finding is controversial, with later studies showing enlarged representation of the healthy hand on the contralateral hemisphere (Di Pietro et al. 2015) and no interhemispheric differences (Mancini et al. 2019). In this regard, the neuromatrix pain theory, which was introduced by Melzack (1996), recognizes the influence of both ascending and descending inputs to the conscious experience of pain, as well as the important contributions of memory and past experiences to pain perception (Melzack 2001).

The neuromatrix pain theory has paved the way for the introduction of new nonpharmacologic methods for pain relief based on behavioral interventions. A crucial concept of this approach is that pain relies on a body image that is held by the brain like a "virtual body" (Moseley 2003). Pain perception may therefore induce some changes in the "virtual body." In patients suffering from phantom limb pain, for example, they may perceive a telescoped effect, which is the feeling that the proximal portion of the amputated limb is missing or has shrunk with the more distal portion floating near, attached to, or "within" the stump (Flor et al. 2006; Giummarra et al. 2007). Indeed, we know that in the case of chronic pain conditions, both the nociceptive system and the "virtual body" may experience profound changes that increase the sensitivity to noxious or non-noxious stimuli, and as a consequence of this may disrupt the integrity of motor output (Moseley 2003). In this case, the "virtual body" in the brain is continuously updated by the inputs from the sensory system.

Since the 1990s, new behavioral therapies for pain relief have attempted to modulate such a distorted or corrupted internal "virtual body" by inducing body ownership illusions through mirrors (Ramachandran and Altschuler 2009), fake bodies (Hegedüs et al. 2014), and virtual bodies (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b, 2021b). Growing interest in new technologies such as VR systems is paving the way for the development of new clinical interventions to manage pain via non-pharmacological means (Carter et al. 2014). This chapter aims to show how VR and specifically virtual body ownership illusions can be applied for pain relief interventions. It also reviews the most recent literature and outlines several promising research lines which have become possible with current and future technological advancements.

### 2 VR and Pain

VR was introduced to the field of pain at the beginning of the twenty-first century. One of the first applications for pain relief in a clinical context was proposed by Hoffman and colleagues (Hoffman et al. 2000a, b, c), who found that adolescent and adult burns patients perceived less pain when playing a video game whilst having their dressings changed – a notoriously painful procedure. Later, an fMRI (functional-magnetic resonance imaging) study conducted by the same group found that VR exposure while experiencing a painful heat stimulus significantly reduced pain in five brain regions of interest related to pain: the anterior cingulate cortex, primary and secondary somatosensory cortex, insula, and thalamus (Hoffman et al. 2004a, b). Further, some years later, another fMRI study showed that when using VR systems for pain relief, the reduction of pain was comparable to the analgesic effect of a moderate dose of hydromorphone pain medication (Hoffman et al. 2007). Moreover, the effectiveness of VR systems for pain relief has been demonstrated in patients with mild and severe pain states (Hoffman et al. 2000a, b, c, 2011, 2014).

Whereas the first VR applications were non-immersive (i.e., they were presented on a computer screen), new VR applications are continuing to be developed for immersive VR systems. Immersive VR is a computer-generated 360°, 3D environment that is rendered through a head-tracked, head-mounted display (HMD) or in a cave automatic virtual environment (CAVE) (Slater 2018). Immersive VR systems allow users to be transported to an artificial world and even give them a full virtual body with which to explore it. Further, both the virtual world and body can be fully controlled and modified by the experimenter or clinician with the intention of achieving specific clinical outcomes, making VR systems an optimal tool for modulating the internal "virtual body," the sensory system, as well as the cognitive functions of patients suffering from pain conditions.

Nowadays, the dramatically lower costs for buying a VR system, with standalone headset systems available for less than €300, opens up the possibility for using VR for assessment and treatment of different pain conditions in hospital environments or

even in patients' homes (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2021a; Scuteri et al. 2020; Slater 2014; Stasolla et al. 2021). It has been demonstrated that VR systems can effectively reduce pain perception in both (1) healthy subjects experiencing painful stimuli and (2) in patients with clinical pain, via two main mechanisms: (1) the distractive potential of VR and (2) the capability of modulating internal body representation (Donegan et al. 2020; Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b). In addition, some evidence demonstrates that the positive pain-relieving effects of VR may also be mediated through a reduction in anxiety and through the user experiencing positive emotions such as a sense of fun when experiencing it (Triberti et al. 2014).

### 2.1 Evidence for Using Immersive VR for Pain Distraction

Distraction has been considered an effective cognitive behavioral procedure for pain relief, as a time-honored psychological pain intervention (Blount et al. 2003; Dahlquist 1999a, b). Some distractive strategies for pain relief are deep breathing, listening to soothing music, watching a video, or playing a video game (Austin and Siddall 2021; Bondin and Dingli 2021; Krupić et al. 2021). It is argued that distractive strategies consume some of our attentional resources leaving less cognitive capacity available for processing pain (McCaul and Malott 1984). The success of these techniques for pain relief has led to the use of VR systems to maximize distraction (Wiederhold et al. 2014a, b).

Today, there is a growing interest in using VR systems as a distractive intervention for pain reduction (Botella et al. 2008; Gorman 2006; Hoffman et al. 2007, 2011; Donegan et al. 2020; Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019a). Through VR, it is possible to draw attention away from the patients' mental processing, decreasing their pain perception (Wiederhold et al. 2014a, b). It is generally thought that the amount of attention directed to the VR intervention is inversely proportional to the available remaining attentional resources that can process incoming nociceptive signals. VR interventions for pain relief have been found to be effective in reducing reported pain in patients undergoing burn wound care, chemotherapy, or dental procedures (Bani Mohammad and Ahmad 2019; Hoffman et al. 2001, 2000a, b, c; Schneider et al. 2003; Schneider and Workman 1999; Tanja-Dijkstra et al. 2014; Wiederhold and Wiederhold 2012; Wiederhold et al. 2014a, b). Hence, distraction strategies using VR are considered a cognitive target with specific therapeutic utility in acute and procedural pain contexts (Trost et al. 2021).

Importantly, we know that the distracting effects of VR interventions are able to change how the brain integrates pain, not just the perception of painful stimuli (Birckhead et al. 2021). To verify this, Birckhead and colleagues have proposed to evaluate the effectiveness of three forms of VR for patients with chronic lower back pain in a forthcoming three-arm clinical trial. In detail, the authors aim to compare the effects of (1) a skills-based VR, a program incorporating principles of cognitive behavioral therapy, mindful meditation, and physiological biofeedback therapy using embedded biometric sensors; (2) a distraction-based VR program using 360°

immersive videos designed to distract users from pain; and (3) a sham VR program in which the patients were allocated to a non-immersive program using two-dimensional videos within a VR headset on pain perception.

It has also been shown that VR interventions facilitate positive affective states, which also contribute to the reduction of pain perception and bolster the diversionary power of the intervention (Sharar et al. 2016). To date, results from experimental research support VR as a tool for distraction and affecting modulation (Indovina et al. 2018; Malloy and Milling 2010 for reviews). These studies provide evidence that VR distraction is an effective intervention for reducing experimental pain in healthy subjects, as well as the pain associated with burn injury care, and other medical procedures such as wound care, and physical therapy. Moreover, VR seemed to decrease cancer-related symptoms in different settings, including during chemotherapy (Chirico et al. 2016). The studies from these reviews showed a clear pattern that immersive VR technology is more likely than non-immersive VR technology to generate relief from pain.

Further, the sense of presence induced during a VR experience and the possibility to interact with the virtual environment correlate inversely with the perception of external pain induced during the experimental session (Gutierrez-Maldonado et al. 2011; Gutiérrez-Martínez et al. 2011; Hoffman et al. 2004b; Riva et al. 2007; Wender et al. 2009). Interestingly, a recent study conducted by Hoffman reported that interacting with virtual objects through embodied virtual hands increased the sense of presence within the virtual environment – an effect that was accompanied by diminished attentional resources available to perform an attention-demanding task in healthy subjects, as well as a decrease in perceived pain induced by brief thermal stimuli during the experimental session (Hoffman 2021). The results from this study implicate an attentional mechanism for how VR reduces pain and help us to understand how VR influences pain perception. Further, the results from this study indicate that the immersiveness of a VR system can be increased substantially (e.g., through avatars) with little or no increase in VR side effects - unlike opioids, which show a dose-response increase in side effects (e.g., increased nausea and constipation) with higher doses. Further, opioid side effects linger for hours after a medical procedure has been completed. Such results pave the way to include immersive VR as a behavioral non-pharmacological intervention for treating pain conditions.

In relation to the above-mentioned study by Hoffman and colleagues, the effects of virtual embodiment on pain relief are more related to brain plasticity changes to the internal body representation than on distractive mechanisms (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2021b). Specifically, these changes rely on the predictive coding hypothesis, which argues that the brain maintains an internal model of the body and the space around it (i.e., the body matrix) which allows the brain to create predictions about the upcoming sensory stimuli arriving at the body and to optimally interact with the dynamic environment around the body (Barrett 2017; Riva et al. 2019). Then, top-down and bottom-up multisensory processes converge into the body matrix and redefine the place of the self, inside the body, consequently modulating the internal body representation as we interact with the surrounding environment (Apps and Tsakiris 2014; Holmes and Spence 2004; Serino et al. 2018). More specifically,

some authors argue that the brain creates an embodied simulation of the body to effectively control and regulate the body in the world, which includes predicting people's actions, concepts, and emotions (Riva et al. 2019). Along these lines, VR experiences attempt to replicate the sensory consequences of the individual's actions, providing them with the same scene or body representation that they can see in the real world. To achieve this, the VR system, like the brain, maintains a model (simulation) of the body and the space around it (Riva et al. 2019). Hence, the effectiveness of virtual body ownership illusions relies on its capability of simulating a body representation within a virtual environment while allowing the possibility to modulate the bodily experience by designing targeted virtual bodies and environments (De Oliveira et al. 2016).

### 2.2 Evidence for Using Virtual Embodiment for Pain Relief

Embodiment is a concept that has been defined in various ways. From the philosophical perspective it is a part of the general discussion on how one defines and experiences oneself (Blanke and Metzinger 2009), which means how the cognitive system utilizes the environment and the body as external informational structures that complement internal representations (Barsalou 2010). For cognitive neuroscience and psychology, it is concerned with the question of how the brain represents the body (Berlucchi and Aglioti 1997; Graziano and Botvinick 2002). It denotes the sense of having a body, and the body can be considered to be both the subject and object of medical science and practice (Gallagher 2001). Moreover, it can be also defined as the sense of being inside, having, and controlling a body, especially when referring to the sense of embodiment toward a virtual avatar (Kilteni et al. 2012). Indeed, in VR, embodiment is frequently associated with a sense of body ownership (Lopez et al. 2008), the concept of self-location (Arzy et al. 2006a, b), and a sense of agency (Newport et al. 2010). Hence, having a sense of embodiment toward a virtual body refers to the feeling of our self as being inside a body, a body that moves according to our intentions, and that interacts with the surrounding virtual environment.

A sense of self-location is described as one of the key components of inducing a sense of embodiment toward a fake body (Arzy et al. 2006a, b; Blanke and Metzinger 2009; Lenggenhager et al. 2007). However, some studies suggest that feeling embodied within a fake body does not require a sense of body ownership. In fact, it appears that these two phenomena can be dissociated, as shown in the study conducted by de Preester and Tsakiris, in which participants could feel a sense of embodiment toward a tool, that is the feeling that the tool is part of one's own body (de Preester and Tsakiris 2009) without reporting feelings of ownership (De Vignemont 2011). These studies support the idea of a pre-existing body-model (representation) that allows for the incorporation of objects into the current body representation model. This body-model is also a basis for the distinction between body extensions (e.g., in the case of tool-use) and incorporation (e.g., in



Fig. 1 Sense of embodiment in virtual reality

the case of successful prosthesis use). More specifically, it was demonstrated that in the case of incorporation, changes in the sense of body ownership involve a reorganization of the body-model, whereas extension of the body with tools does not involve changes in the sense of body ownership.

Another crucial factor for inducing embodiment within a fake body is experiencing a sense of agency, which has been demonstrated to give coherence to the internal body representation (Tsakiris et al. 2006). Further, it is shown that a lack of agency can inhibit the sense of embodiment, as in the case, for example, of inducing the illusion that the participant's finger was being stretched to twice its normal length until it snapped and the tip came off, and moving it independently without participant's control (Newport and Preston 2010).

In summary, through VR it is possible to induce the three subcomponents of embodiment – body ownership, a sense of self-location, and a sense of agency – so that VR can be used to modulate a user's internal body representation. In turn, a users' changed body representation can influence his or her behavioral, cognitive, and physiological responses as the person engages with virtual surroundings (Moseley et al. 2012). In this way, VR can be an effective tool for inducing virtual body ownership illusions through which participants can feel fully embodied in the virtual body, the appearance of which can be determined by the experimenter (Kilteni et al. 2012) (Fig. 1). For instance, some studies suggest, that assuming the role in VR of a person of a different race can impact empathy and perspective taking (Thériault et al. 2021; Banakou et al. 2020). Given these studies, it may prove fruitful to explore the impact of empathy through the use of virtual embodiment on pain modulation.

### **Body Perception and Pain**

In recent years, interest has grown in investigating how observing the body while being in pain may impact pain perception (Martini 2016). Cross-modal interactions between the vision of the body and somatosensory responses have been widely investigated (Macaluso and Maravita 2010; Medina and Coslett 2010; Serino and Haggard 2010; Wesslein et al. 2014). It was reported that in healthy subjects observing video clips of other hands receiving painful stimulation, while receiving

a painful laser stimulation on their real hands, the neural processing of the early nociceptive-related responses was modulated by decreasing neural activity in the pain matrix sensory node, compared to the observation of a non-human control condition (Valeriani et al. 2008). Later, another study conducted by Longo and colleagues reported that seeing one's own painful body part can itself exert an analgesic effect (Longo et al. 2009). In three separate experiments with healthy subjects, the authors showed that while subjects were looking at their own painfully stimulated hand, they felt less pain compared to when they were looking at a box or even at somebody else's hand. Further, they observed a reduction of the late N2/P2 components of the laser-evoked potentials, which showed an analgesic effect related to the vision of the painful body part. The authors argued that this effect was driven by the visually induced activation of the inhibitory GABAergic interneurons in the brain somatosensory areas (SI, SII). Moreover, a different electroencephalogram (EEG) study with healthy subjects showed that seeing the body, compared to seeing a neutral object, increased beta oscillatory activity bilaterally in sensorimotor brain areas, indicating cortical inhibitory activity toward nociceptive stimuli processing (Mancini et al. 2013). Another neuroimaging study found that images of a body part subjected to painful stimulation increased the functional coupling between brain areas of the "pain matrix" and body representation brain areas within the posterior parietal cortex and the occipito-temporal areas (Longo et al. 2012). Interestingly, it has been shown that the analgesic effect while observing a body under painful conditions is site-specific, meaning that there is only pain relief to the site of the body that is homologous to the one being subjected to pain while the participant watches (Diers et al. 2013).

Intriguingly, visual modification of a body part has been found to shape pain perception. For instance, it has been shown in both healthy subjects (Mancini et al. 2011; Romano and Maravita 2014) and clinical populations (Diers et al. 2013; Moseley et al. 2008; Preston and Newport 2011; Ramachandran et al. 2009; Stanton et al. 2018) that by changing the size of the observed painful limb there is a modulation of pain perception in the viewer proportional to the enlargement or reduction of the size of the seen body part. Interestingly, resizing illusions has led to contrasting results in clinical populations with chronic pain, as well as healthy individuals in some cases (for a review, see Martini 2016).

A possible explanation for these contradictory results could reside in the altered neural representation of the body in chronic pain patients (Tsay et al. 2015). It is known that consequences of experiencing body representation alterations include changes in the perception of the size of the painful limb, as has been shown in patients with complex regional pain syndrome (Lewis et al. 2007), hand osteoarthritis (Themelis and Newport 2018), and painful phantom limb (Ramachandran and Hirstein 1998). Interestingly, altered body perceptions analogous to those reported in pathological conditions can be induced in healthy individuals using controlled experimental paradigms (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2020a; Moseley et al. 2012). All experimental manipulations that induce body illusions toward a fake body rely on exposing participants to altered multisensory stimulation through synchronous visuo-tactile or visuo-motor congruent stimulation. For instance, in the study

conducted by Petkova and Ehrsson (2008), the authors applied synchronous visuotactile stimulation over a mannequin fake body and to the participants real body to induce the sense of ownership over the fake mannequin body. In the same way, Slater et al. (2008) induced a sense of ownership toward a virtual body using synchronous visuo-tactile stimulation. Further, others induced a sense of ownership toward fake virtual bodies using synchronous visuo-motor correlations (Kokkinara et al. 2015). This research supports the overall view that self-body representations in the brain are built dynamically through multisensory integration processes and through our existing knowledge about the human body (Maselli and Slater 2013; Tajadura-Jiménez et al. 2012).

These findings are particularly exciting for VR researchers in that they suggest the possibility of inducing full body ownership illusions through VR by applying synchronous visuo-tactile or visuo-motor congruent stimulations. Moreover, through VR, it is possible to observe the virtual body from a first-person perspective – which could represent a crucial factor to feeling fully embodied in a virtual avatar (Maselli and Slater 2013). Hence, immersive VR systems are a promising tool for both representing the possible body distortions due to the chronic pain condition and for normalizing the altered representation of the painful part of the body reducing pain perception. Then, one may postulate that virtual body ownership illusions can be used for both the assessment and treatment of chronic pain conditions.

### Virtual Embodiment for Pain Relief

In line with the ideas outlined above, a large number of studies have attempted over the past decade to leverage the power of virtual embodiment by inducing virtual body ownership illusions in healthy and clinical populations (see Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b, 2021b; Donegan et al. 2020; Martini 2016). The benefits of virtual body ownership illusions in clinical populations can be explained by recourse to the predictive coding hypothesis, which argues that the brain maintains an internal representation of the body and the space around it. These representations allow the brain to predict upcoming sensory stimuli arriving at the body and to optimally interact with the dynamic environment around the body (Barrett 2017; Riva et al. 2019). Then, top-down and bottom-up multisensory signals arriving to the body redefine the place of the self, inside the body, consequently modulating internal body representation as we interact with the surrounding environment, whether real or virtual (Holmes and Spence 2004; Ribu et al. 2013).

The effectiveness of virtual embodiment stems from its capacity to simulate a virtual body representation that is experienced as genuinely present in the virtual environment, while also allowing this virtual body to be felt as one's own even if its appearance differs from the real body (De Oliveira et al. 2016; Slater and Sanchez-Vives 2016). VR offers the possibility of inducing a sense of body ownership toward fake virtual bodies that are present in the virtual environment through the use of multisensory stimulation (e.g., visuo-tactile or visuo-motor), such that the researcher can modify the morphological characteristics of the virtual body, designing targeted virtual bodies depending on the aim of the intervention. Some evidence

# NormalNormalNormalDistortedReddened<br/>distortedNormalNery Big sizeNormalPery Big sizeSormalSmall sizeNormalSoft<br/>fransparency

### Different virtual arm representations

Fig. 2 Virtual body distortions used for upper limb pain relief. Pictures were retrieved from Matamala-Gomez et al. (2019b, 2020a, b)

demonstrates that by changing the morphological characteristics of the virtual body, it is possible to modulate aspects of participants' behavior (Slater and Sanchez-Vives 2016). For instance, it has been shown that a sense of ownership over virtual bodies with different skin colors can be instilled in VR users, decreasing implicit racial bias (Banakou et al. 2016). Similarly, inducing ownership over a child's virtual body has allowed researchers to assess changes in object size estimation and behavioral attitudes (Banakou et al. 2013). Likewise, it has been shown that virtual body ownership illusions can be used in order to prompt functional brain alterations in patients with chronic pain and to decrease pain perception by changing the morphological characteristics of the virtual body (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b, 2021b) (Fig. 2).

These studies suggest a bidirectional link between pain and body perception (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b, 2020a, b, 2021a, b). However, work from the authors' own group has shown that the best strategy needs to be tuned to the etiology of a source of pain (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b). In detail, it was demonstrated that by increasing the level of transparency of the virtual homolog of a painful part of the body, it was possible to decrease pain perception in patients suffering from complex regional pain syndrome – but the opposite effect was found in patients suffering from peripheral nerve injury (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b). Further, in this study, an increase in pain ratings was found to correspond with an increase in the size of the virtual painful limb in patients with complex regional pain syndrome – and again, this pattern did not occur in patients with peripheral nerve injury (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b).

In another study conducted by Matamala-Gomez et al. (2020a, b), the authors aimed to investigate whether distorting an embodied virtual arm in virtual reality (simulating the telescoping effect in amputees) modulated pain perception and anticipatory responses to pain in healthy participants. The authors evaluated pain/ discomfort ratings, levels of ownership, and skin conductance response (SCR) after the observation of each virtual arm condition (normal, distorted, reddened-distorted). It was found that viewing a distorted virtual arm enhanced the SCR to a threatening event with respect to viewing a normal control arm, but when viewing a reddeneddistorted virtual arm, SCR was comparatively reduced in response to the threat. There was a positive relationship between the reported level of ownership over the distorted and reddened-distorted virtual arms and the level of reported pain/discomfort, but not in the normal control arm. Based on these outcomes, one may postulate that even though observing changes in the morphological characteristics of the virtual body may have an impact on pain perception, these changes are most likely to exert an effect when they are tailored to the specific characteristics of patients with chronic pain and their pain etiology. This idea can be in terms of interactions between body image and pain perception (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2019b, 2021a, b) such that patients with different chronic pain conditions can present different distortions, in terms of body representation, of the painful limb of the body. According to this hypothesis, an intervention using virtual embodiment to modulate such distortions should thus be tailored to each specific group of patients.

A recent study demonstrated that increasing immersiveness by inducing virtual body ownership illusions of virtual avatars may increase the analgesic effect of VR, compared to a VR exposure without using virtual avatars (Hoffman 2021). In this study, the author showed that inducing a sense of embodiment toward an interactive virtual hand substantially augments the analgesic effect of the intervention over a non-embodied condition with minimal environmental interaction. Similarly, a number of studies have shown that increasing the immersiveness of a VR experience through interactive or realistic scenarios that evoke a sense of presence amplifies the analgesic impact of that VR experience in cases of acute pain perception (Al-Ghamdi et al. 2020; Donegan et al. 2020; Hoffman et al. 2004b; Wender et al. 2009). Moreover, since having a virtual body in virtual reality has also been shown to increase the sense of presence in VR (Slater et al. 2010; Slater and Usoh 1993),

adding virtual embodiment to the VR experience is likely to have additional analgesic effects. Another crucial component when using virtual body ownership illusions for pain relief is the co-location of the virtual body with the real one (Nierula et al. 2017). In this study, the authors found that to increase pain threshold while applying external heat stimulation with a thermode to the real body, the virtual and real body should be co-located. Further, the authors observed that for the arm, this analgesic effect diminishes when there are more than 30 cm difference between the virtual and real arm (Nierula et al. 2017).

### **3** Creating Effective Analgesic VR Illusions

As discussed, one of the key elements of the analgesic effect of VR is thought to operate via distraction or divided attention. In theory, the more engaged the subject is in the virtual task, the less "neural bandwidth" is available for processing of nociception and production of pain (Hoffman 2021). So how can we more fully engage our subjects, and immerse them more completely in the virtual scenario? Mel Slater (Slater 2009) describes two constituent parts of an effective "sense of presence" VR illusion that can induce real-life responses as the place illusion (the participant's sense that they are in a real place) and plausibility illusion (the participant's sense that the events taking place in the virtual scenario are actually happening). Of course, the participant *knows* that they are only experiencing an illusion, but *responds* as if the situation and events are real.

To ensure a more effective presence illusion, the sensorimotor contingencies that occur in VR should, as closely as possible, mimic those of reality. In addition, real-world distractions such as external light sources and sounds should be minimized, as well as any communication with the experimenter if present. Creating effective plausibility illusions also requires that the interactions that occur in VR between the subject and the environment have realistic consequences. For example, touching a moving object in VR may cause it to stop or change direction; or perhaps at a more social level, waving hello at someone in VR should cause a response (e.g., they smile or wave back) (Slater 2009).

There is a balance to be struck between making virtual scenarios engaging enough to provide significant distraction, yet realistic enough to be salient and relevant to the patient. Blasting lasers at space monsters on an alien planet might well be hugely entertaining and provide a significant distraction, and therefore analgesia, *at the time*, but once the patient removes the headset and returns to the real world, how much carryover is there from the session? How relevant is such a scenario to normal activities of daily living for the patient? Perhaps one needs to focus on the reasons for trying to induce VR analgesia. For acute pain or for painful procedures, virtual scenarios with highly distractive fantastical elements may indeed be useful (see Hoffman et al. 2000a, b, c; Hoffman et al. 2011; Hoffman et al. 2014). For chronic pain, however, VR interventions that focus on real-world challenges, or those that are particularly relevant for the individual patient, and combined with elements of graded exposure, may be a better option.

For VR interventions that utilize embodiment of a virtual body seen from a firstperson perspective, there are a number of factors that make for a stronger illusion. First and foremost, the multisensory stimulation used to induce the illusion must be spatiotemporally congruent or the illusion is easily broken. Visuo-motor congruent stimulation has the additional advantage of producing a sense of agency over the virtual body's movements, which is an important component of embodiment. Finally, whereas spatiotemporal congruency is crucial, avatars do not need to closely match the subject's real body. A "lookalike" avatar may be more easily embodied, and, thanks to customizable photorealistic facial mapping, "lookalike" avatars are easily and readily available; however, it is not essential for embodiment. Indeed, Lugrin and colleagues showed that in fact cartoon-like and machine-like avatars were more readily embodied than more realistic human avatars, perhaps a demonstration of an uncanny valley effect (Lugrin et al. 2015). As discussed previously, embodying non-realistic or fantastic avatars may confer therapeutic benefit (Lugrin et al. 2015; Hoffman et al. 2014, 2011).

### Considerations when Using Immersive VR in Patients with Pain

While VR is considered to be low risk (see (Corbetta et al. 2015) for a review on safety), patients in pain often have decreased mobility, tire easily, and have poor concentration spans and therefore need careful consideration when designing, testing, and implementing therapeutic VR treatment. Patients should be positioned comfortably before starting, usually seated with neck or back support, if necessary, but encouraged to move and change position should they feel the need to. For scenarios involving movement, the available range of movement should be considered and either kept within a comfortable range, or patients can be challenged to move beyond a comfortable range, depending on the goals of therapy.

As a general rule of thumb, VR exposure time should be kept to 10–15 min initially, and not extend beyond 20 min with repeated sessions once patients become accustomed to VR (Donegan et al. 2020). They should be encouraged beforehand to immediately discontinue if any symptoms of nausea or dizziness are experienced, since once these symptoms are felt, it is very difficult to get them to settle whilst still in VR. Such symptoms are more likely to occur if there are mismatches between observed visual movement in VR and real-life movement (LaViola 2000). Other ways to reduce nausea include the use of airflow (e.g., with a fan) (D'Amour et al. 2017); slower movements (Kemeny et al. 2017); temporarily narrowing the field of view during head movement (Fernandes and Feiner 2016); and ensuring the interpupillary distance (IPD) is matched to that of the patient (Fulvio et al. 2019).

The virtual task should be set at an appropriate level for the patient. More elderly patients are less likely to be familiar with VR and may be unsure what is required of them. A comprehensive discussion beforehand may be helpful, in which any doubts and questions can be answered. Often, interaction with a virtual therapist in VR, who responds in a realistic way, can be reassuring and can provide motivation for the patient (Matamala-Gomez et al. 2021a; Rehm et al. 2016).

# 4 Current Trends and Future Directions of IVR in the Field of Pain

Even in its early stages of development, the promise of immersive VR as a tool for mitigating pain through distraction has been clear. Since then, IVR has also become an important tool for understanding and treating pain. What are current trends and potential future developments of the discipline? Which topics are still underexplored and what may become possible only with further technological advancements?

### 4.1 Recent Developments in IVR and Biosignal Research

Combining biosignal recording, such as electroencephalography or near-infrared spectroscopy, and immersive VR has been successfully implemented in many research areas, including chronic pain research (e.g., Gentile et al. 2020). A novel approach, not fully explored in rehabilitation, is combining an immersive VR experience and non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS). The two most common NIBS techniques are transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). Cassani et al. (2020) have recently reviewed the literature in which NIBS and immersive VR are used for rehabilitation and found two (out of sixteen) studies where NIBS-immersive VR was used for the treatment of neuropathic pain as a result of spinal cord injury, which remains poorly understood and very difficult to treat. It is important to note that both cited studies used an early, non-immersive VR system following the one described by Moseley (2007) and not what we would call immersive VR today. The illusion was based on a video which showed the legs of a gender-matched person walking on a treadmill. To induce the experience of realistic gait perception, a vertical mirror was placed on top of the projected video, so that the own patient's upper part of the body and the walking legs displayed on the screen were aligned in the most realistic position possible, and a synchronized sound of walking shoes was played to increase the realism of the experience. The first study included a 12-week-long intervention and had a 2 (real stimulation/sham stimulation)  $\times$  2 (visual illusion/control illusion) design (Soler et al. 2010). The real tDCS with visual illusion condition yielded the largest reduction of all pain subtypes. Results suggest that virtual walking may be a viable treatment for pain after spinal cord injury.

The second study also used a visual illusion of walking to improve neuropathic pain in severe spinal cord injury (Kumru et al. 2013). The study included 5 min of tDCS alone and another 15 min where the stimulation was accompanied by the visual illusion. A 2-week intervention of daily tDCS and visual illusion resulted in an average of 50% pain reduction, which was significantly higher than in the two control conditions.

Despite these promising results, this line of research had received little attention until recent years, which have witnessed the return of NIBS+immersive VR in a new, more advanced form. One example is a study protocol, for two randomized, controlled trials for treating pain in Parkinson's disease patients (González-Zamorano et al. 2021). The studies include a combination of tDCS over the primary motor cortex, action observation, and motor imagery training based on a brain-computer interface using immersive VR. Although the results are not yet known, we may see that the conceptual and technological jump of the last decade opens completely new possibilities for pain research.

Another, almost non-existent approach in this field is a combination of immersive VR and eye tracking (ET), widely used in non-clinical research, such as marketing (Meißner et al. 2019). Although the role of ET in pain modulation has been explored in prior studies (for a review, see Chan et al. 2020), surprisingly only now are we starting to see published research that includes immersive VR + ET paradigms. There are numerous applications of immersive VR + ET. For instance, in chronic pain, it can be used as a measure of attention paid to a specific body part or events in the virtual environment. Moreover, in acute pain, it can be a tool for actively drawing attention to the virtual world to maximize the distraction from a painful procedure. For instance, Al-Ghamdi et al. (2020) used it to test the analgesic effect of interactive vs. non-interactive VR after receiving a thermal pain stimulus. The active condition included a "hands-free" ET-based manipulation of the virtual objects. In the control condition, patients could only passively watch the virtual objects. The study vielded a clear advantage of using the immersive VR + ET technology, as patients reported more fun, stronger presence, and reduced worst pain in this condition, compared to the passive one. As the HMDs with built-in ET become more accessible, we would expect to see a growing number of studies taking advantage of this technology.

### 4.2 VR for Pain Psychotherapy

Social immersive VR, where users can interact with each other in real time through avatars, is a big part of the VR industry. It is highly attractive because of the full anonymity offered by avatars, combined with an embodied, first-person perspective. It is also important that one can participate in such an experience without leaving home, but still feel "present" with others in cyberspace. This feature is particularly valuable for people with limited mobility or who are isolated, as has been the case in the COVID-19 pandemic. An intriguing study has recently demonstrated the usefulness of social immersive VR for acute pain. Won et al. (2020) showed that interacting in real time in immersive VR with another person can be successfully used for pain distraction, as it boosted thermal pain thresholds in participants. It corroborates the results from the above-mentioned ET study, suggesting that the immersive VR, where patients can interact with objects or others, may be more efficient than passive immersive VR, where patients are alone and not interacting actively.

In sum, immersive VR brings new opportunities for many kinds of group therapy (Cîmpean 2019), and therapy for chronic pain patients is not an exception. So far, to the best knowledge of the authors, no studies have tested such group therapy for pain. Nonetheless, one may predict that such studies will emerge, since various therapeutic groups already exist and are accessible freely through various social VR applications (for a review, see Best et al. 2022). The comparison between an in-person and teletherapy for chronic pain patients based on video-calls suggests a similarly positive effect in both groups (Mariano et al. 2021). It is too early to predict the future popularity and efficiency of an individual or group therapy for pain patients; nonetheless, it seems likely that this line of research will be developed, following spontaneous activity of immersive VR users and an overall growing acceptability among the stakeholders (Dilgul et al. 2021).

### 4.3 Immersive VR for Cancer Pain, Palliative, and Intensive Care

Immersive VR has also attracted the interest of researchers and practitioners seeking alternatives to opiates and other types of harsh or addictive medications for alleviating cancer-related pain or pain encountered in palliative and intensive care. Some of the first attempts did not yield entirely optimistic results: Laghlam et al. (2021) tested the efficiency of immersive VR for pain reduction during and after drain removal in patients in the intensive care unit. Compared to an inhaled equimolar mixture of N<sub>2</sub>O and O<sub>2</sub> (Kalinox<sup>®</sup>), the immersive VR group was in significantly higher pain immediately after the procedure and equal pain 10 min later, suggesting that the distraction was not effective. However, the virtual experience consisted of a  $360^{\circ}$  video – thus, it was not interactive and not exactly immersive VR.

Another study investigated 360° videos of nature scenes for cancer patients during their intravenous (IV)/port access. Compared to the first visit, which served as a control, patients reported increased relaxation, feelings of peace, and positive distractions, although no change in pain or stress during the second visit (Scates et al. 2020). Based on these outcomes, it appears that to observe a significant analgesic effect, a more engaging experience may be necessary, especially for more invasive medical procedures. Hurd (2021) analyzed archival data to determine whether using audio-visual immersive VR and morphine is more efficient in inducing analgesia than morphine alone in hospice patients experiencing chronic cancer pain. The author did not find any analgesic effect of the immersive VR experience; however, due to the study limitations (no detailed information on the technical aspects of the immersive VR exactly, potential diversity of experiences, no information of the duration and frequency of the experience, etc.), it is hard to judge what was the reason for this lack of effect. Therefore, further, well-controlled experimental studies are necessary to understand whether and perhaps, how, immersive VR can be implemented in hospice care for palliative patients.

### 4.4 VR for Pain Diagnosis and Simulation

Among paths still to be explored thoroughly are pain diagnosis in immersive VR. Examples from other disciplines, such as neurology and cognitive psychology, suggest that immersive VR can be a useful tool for diagnosis of a range of medical conditions, including pain diagnosis (Llobera et al. 2012). In a study from Llobera et al. (2013), the authors presented a method that exploits virtual body ownership in combination with a simple brain–computer interface (BCI) based on EEG, while observing virtual movements of the painful limb in a virtual mirror and recording muscle activity (electromyography, EMG) in the corresponding real limb to complement a neurological assessment. The authors found that body ownership induced changes in both the recorded physiological measures and BCI task performance in one case study patient compared to five healthy controls – which suggests that induction of virtual body ownership combined with simple electrophysiological measures could be useful for the diagnosis of patients with neurological conditions.

Another unique possibility offered by immersive VR is a simulation of painful conditions in healthy participants, such as inducing phantom limb pain through avatars with body parts. This line of research may have several applications, such as a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms of pain disorders (Kocur et al. 2020) or an increase in empathy in healthcare employees working with pain patients (Brydon et al. 2021).

### 5 Conclusions

The present chapter examines the use of VR and more specifically the use of virtual embodiment for pain relief. The current literature in the field highlights the importance of immersiveness and evoking a sense of presence in order to create an effective virtual environment for pain relief. One way of increasing such aspects is by inducing a sense of embodiment within the virtual world via an avatar. Moreover, current studies in the field demonstrate that there is a link between body perception and clinical disorders such as pain, creating a viable therapeutic avenue for virtual embodiment using immersive VR systems. Nevertheless, there is a gap in the scientific literature on the use of immersive VR avatars to treat acute pain (Trost et al. 2021). Hence, robust and suitably powered randomized control trials are needed to further explore the full potential of embodiment technologies such as VR to modulate pain perception. Further investigations aimed at modulating pain perception through an embodied virtual body with larger sample sizes will allow a better understanding of the link between body representation and pain perception. Along these lines, future studies on this topic may make use of brain imaging techniques, which will allow better identification of the neural structures underlying the complex link between modification of body perception and pain.

To date, nearly all studies involving virtual embodiment have targeted treatments designed for patients with chronic pain (Llobera et al. 2013; Matamala-Gomez et al. 2020b, 2018; Pozeg et al. 2017; Solcà et al. 2018). However, while the use of VR generally for acute pain relief is well established, chronic pain management using embodiment in immersive VR in clinical populations requires further study. Rapid development of the VR hardware and software offers continuously new technological solutions which open novel research and treatment methods. This includes between others, combining NIBS and VR for pain mechanisms analysis and diagnosis, group teletherapy for chronic pain, and pain simulation in healthy participants.

### References

- Al-Ghamdi NA, Meyer WJ, Atzori B, Alhalabi W, Seibel CC, Ullman D, Hoffman HG (2020) Virtual reality analgesia with interactive eye tracking during brief thermal pain stimuli: a randomized controlled trial (crossover design). Front Hum Neurosci 13:467. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00467
- Apps MA, Tsakiris M (2014) The free-energy self: a predictive coding account of self-recognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 41:85–97
- Arzy S, Overney LS, Landis T, Blanke O (2006a) Neural mechanisms of embodiment: asomatognosia due to premotor cortex damage. Arch Neurol 63(7):1022–1025. https://doi. org/10.1001/archneur.63.7.1022
- Arzy S, Thut G, Mohr C, Michel CM, Blanke O (2006b) Neural basis of embodiment: distinct contributions of temporoparietal junction and extrastriate body area. J Neurosci 26(31): 8074–8081. http://www.jneurosci.org/content/26/31/8074.short
- Austin PD, Siddall PJ (2021) Virtual reality for the treatment of neuropathic pain in people with spinal cord injuries: a scoping review. J Spinal Cord Med 44(1):8–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/10790268.2019.1575554
- Banakou D, Beacco A, Neyret S, Blasco-Oliver M, Seinfeld S, Slater M (2020) Virtual body ownership and its consequences for implicit racial bias are dependent on social context. R Soc Open Sci 7(12):201848
- Banakou D, Groten R, Slater M (2013) Illusory ownership of a virtual child body causes overestimation of object sizes and implicit attitude changes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110 (31):12846–12851
- Banakou D, Hanumanthu PD, Slater M (2016) Virtual embodiment of white people in a black virtual body leads to a sustained reduction in their implicit racial bias. Front Hum Neurosci 601
- Bani Mohammad E, Ahmad M (2019) Virtual reality as a distraction technique for pain and anxiety among patients with breast cancer: a randomized control trial. Palliat Support Care 17(1):29–34. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1478951518000639
- Barrett LF (2017) The theory of constructed emotion: an active inference account of interoception and categorization. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci 12(1):1–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsw154
- Barsalou LW (2010) Grounded cognition: past, present, and future. Top Cogn Sci 2(4):716–724
- Berlucchi G, Aglioti S (1997) The body in the brain: neural bases of corporeal awareness. Trends Neurosci 20(12):560–564
- Best P, Meireles M, Schroeder F, Montgomery L, Maddock A, Davidson G, Galway K, Trainor D, Campbell A, Van Daele T (2022) Freely available virtual reality experiences as tools to support mental health therapy: a systematic scoping review and consensus based interdisciplinary analysis. J Technol Behav Sci 7(1):100–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-021-00214-6
- Birckhead B, Eberlein S, Alvarez G, Gale R, Dupuy T, Makaroff K, Fuller G, Liu X, Yu KS, Black JT, Ishimori M, Venuturupalli S, Tu J, Norris T, Tighiouart M, Ross L, McKelvey K, Vrahas M,

Danovitch I, Spiegel B (2021) Home-based virtual reality for chronic pain: protocol for an NIH-supported randomised-controlled trial. BMJ Open 11(6):e050545. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2021-050545

- Blanke O, Metzinger T (2009) Full-body illusions and minimal phenomenal selfhood. Trends Cogn Sci 13(1):7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2008.10.003
- Blount RL, Piira T, Cohen LL (2003) Management of pediatric pain and distress due to medical procedures. In: Roberts MC (ed) Handbook of pediatric psychology, 3rd edn. The Guilford Press
- Bondin L, Dingli A (2021) Automating pain reduction using biosensors and realtime adaptive VR. In: Musiolik T, Cheok A (eds) Analyzing future applications of AI, sensors, and robotics in society. IGI Global, pp 132–140. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-3499-1.ch008
- Botella C, Palacios AG, Baños R, Quero S, Breton-Lopez J (2008) Virtual reality in the treatment of pain. J Cyberther Rehabil 1(1):93–100. https://search.proquest.com/docview/622073106? accountid=16562
- Brydon M, Kimber J, Sponagle M, MacLaine J, Avery J, Pyke L, Gilbert R (2021) Virtual reality as a tool for eliciting empathetic behaviour in carers: an integrative review. J Med Imaging Radiat Sci 52(3):466–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2021.04.005
- Buckelew SP, Degood DE, Schwartz DP, Kerler RM (1986) Cognitive and somatic item response pattern of pain patients, psychiatric patients, and hospital employees. J Clin Psychol 42(6): 852–860. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198611)42:6<852::AID-JCLP2270420603>3.0. CO:2-R
- Carter GT, Duong V, Ho S, Ngo KC, Greer CL, Weeks DL (2014) Side effects of commonly prescribed analgesic medications. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 25(2):457–470. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pmr.2014.01.007
- Cassani R, Novak GS, Falk TH, Oliveira AA (2020) Virtual reality and non-invasive brain stimulation for rehabilitation applications: a systematic review. J Neuroeng Rehabil 17(1): 147. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-020-00780-5
- Chan F, Suen H, Jackson T, Vlaeyen J, Barry T (2020) Pain-related attentional processes: a systematic review of eye-tracking research. Clin Psychol Rev 80:101884. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cpr.2020.101884
- Chirico A, Lucidi F, De Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A (2016) Virtual reality in health system: beyond entertainment. A mini-review on the efficacy of VR during cancer treatment. J Cell Physiol 231(2):275–287
- Cîmpean AI (2019) A pilot study to compare cognitive behavioral therapy with virtual reality vs. standard cognitive behavioral therapy for patients who suffer from cervical cancer. J Evid Based Psychothér 19(1):115–127. https://doi.org/10.24193/jebp.2019.1.7
- Corbetta D, Imeri F, Gatti R (2015) Rehabilitation that incorporates virtual reality is more effective than standard rehabilitation for improving walking speed, balance and mobility after stroke: a systematic review. J Physiother 61(3):117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2015.05.017
- Crombez G, Eccleston C, Baeyens F, Eelen P (1996) Disruptive nature of pain: an experimental investigation. Behav Res Ther 34(11–12):911–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(96) 00058-7
- D'Amour S, Bos JE, Keshavarz B (2017) The efficacy of airflow and seat vibration on reducing visually induced motion sickness. Exp Brain Res 235(9):2811–2820. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00221-017-5009-1
- Dahlquist L (1999a) Commentary on "Treatments that work in pediatric psychology: Procedurerelated pain." J Pediatr Psychol 24(2):153–154. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1999-13153-010
- Dahlquist L (1999b) Pediatric pain management. https://books.google.it/books?hl=it&lr=&id= eIvA9aFUCqUC&oi=fnd&pg=PR11&dq=Pediatric+pain+management,+1999,+Dahlquist& ots=PhK1cb5p81&sig=1PmLxcs8vmLMZp-euAOaZbXy66g
- De Oliveira EC, Bertrand P, Lesur MER, Palomo P, Demarzo M, Cebolla A, Banos R, Tori R (2016) Virtual body swap: a new feasible tool to be explored in health and education. In:

Proceedings - 18th symposium on virtual and augmented reality, SVR 2016, pp 81–89. https:// doi.org/10.1109/SVR.2016.23

- de Preester H, Tsakiris M (2009) Body-extension versus body-incorporation: is there a need for a body-model? Phenomenol Cogn Sci 8(3):307–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11097-009-9121-y
- De Vignemont F (2011) Embodiment, ownership and disownership. Conscious Cogn 20(1):82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2010.09.004
- Derbyshire SWG, Vogt BA, Jones AKP (1998) Pain and Stroop interference tasks activate separate processing modules in anterior cingulate cortex. Exp Brain Res 118(1):52–60. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s002210050254
- Di Pietro F, Stanton TR, Moseley GL, Lotze M, Mcauley JH (2015) Interhemispheric somatosensory differences in chronic pain reflect abnormality of the healthy side. Hum Brain Mapp 36(2): 508–518. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22643
- Diers M, Zieglgänsberger W, Trojan J, Drevensek AM, Erhardt-Raum G, Flor H (2013) Sitespecific visual feedback reduces pain perception. Pain 154(6):890–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.pain.2013.02.022
- Dilgul M, Hickling LM, Antonie D, Priebe S, Bird VJ (2021) Virtual reality group therapy for the treatment of depression: a qualitative study on stakeholder perspectives. Front Virtual Real. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2020.609545
- Donegan T, Ryan BE, Swidrak J, Sanchez-Vives MV (2020) Immersive virtual reality for clinical pain: considerations for effective therapy. Front Virtual Real 1(9):9. https://doi.org/10. 3389/frvir.2020.00009
- Eccleston C, Crombez G (1999) Pain demands attention: a cognitive-affective model of the interruptive function of pain. Psychol Bull 125(3):356–366. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.125.3.356
- Fernandes AS, Feiner SK (2016) Combating VR sickness through subtle dynamic field-of-view modification. IEEE symposium on 3D user interfaces
- Flor H (2003) Cortical reorganisation and chronic pain: implications for rehabilitation. J Rehabil Med Suppl 41. https://doi.org/10.1080/16501960310010179
- Flor H, Elbert T, Knecht S, Wienbruch C, Pantev C, Birbaumers N, Larbig W, Taub E (1995) Phantom-limb pain as a perceptual correlate of cortical reorganization following arm amputation. Nature 375(6531):482–484. https://doi.org/10.1038/375482a0
- Flor H, Braun C, Elbert T, Birbaumer N (1997) Extensive reorganization of primary somatosensory cortex in chronic back pain patients. Neurosci Lett 224(1):5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(97)13441-3
- Flor H, Nikolajsen L, Jensen TS (2006) Phantom limb pain: a case of maladaptive CNS plasticity? Nat Rev Neurosci 7(11):873–881. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1991
- Fulvio JM, Ji M, Rokers B (2019) Variability in sensory sensitivity predicts motion sickness in virtual reality. BioRxiv 488817. https://doi.org/10.1101/488817
- Gallagher S (2001) The practice of mind. Theory, simulation or primary interaction? J Conscious Stud 8(5–6):83–108
- Gentile E, Brunetti A, Ricci K, Delussi M, Bevilacqua V, de Tommaso M (2020) Mutual interaction between motor cortex activation and pain in fibromyalgia: EEG-fNIRS study. PLoS One 15(1): e0228158. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228158
- Giummarra MJ, Gibson SJ, Georgiou-Karistianis N, Bradshaw JL (2007) Central mechanisms in phantom limb perception: the past, present and future. Brain Res Rev 54(1):219–232. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.01.009
- González-Zamorano Y, Fernández-Carnero J, Sánchez-Cuesta FJ, Arroyo-Ferrer A, Vourvopoulos A, Figueiredo P, Serrano JI, Romero JP (2021) New approaches based on non-invasive brain stimulation and mental representation techniques targeting pain in Parkinson's disease patients: two study protocols for two randomized controlled trials. Brain Sci 11(1):65. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11010065
- Gorman JM (2006) Virtual reality: a real treatment option. CNS Spectr 11(1):12–13. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S1092852900024081

- Graziano MS, Botvinick MM (2002) How the brain represents the body: insights from neurophysiology and psychology. In: Common mechanisms in perception and action: attention and performance XIX, vol 19, pp 136–157
- Gutierrez-Maldonado J, Gutierrez-Martinez O, Cabas-Hoyos K (2011) Interactive and passive virtual reality distraction: effects on presence and pain intensity. Annu Rev Cyberther Telemed 9(1)
- Gutiérrez-Martínez O, Gutiérrez-Maldonado J, Loreto-Quijada D (2011) Control over the virtual environment influences the presence and efficacy of a virtual reality intervention on pain. Annu Rev Cyberther Telemed 9(1)
- Hegedüs G, Darnai G, Szolcsányi T, Feldmann Á, Janszky J, Kállai J (2014) The rubber hand illusion increases heat pain threshold. Eur J Pain 18(8):1173–1181. https://doi.org/10.1002/j. 1532-2149.2014.00466.x
- Hoffman HG (2021) Interacting with virtual objects via embodied avatar hands reduces pain intensity and diverts attention. Sci Rep 11(1):10672. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-89526-4
- Hoffman HG, Doctor JN et al (2000a) Use of virtual reality for adjunctive treatment of adolescent burn pain during wound care. Pain 85:305–309
- Hoffman HG, Doctor JN, Patterson DR, Carrougher GJ, Furness TA (2000b) Virtual reality as an adjunctive pain control during burn wound care in adolescent patients. Pain 85(1-2):305–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00275-4
- Hoffman HG, Patterson DR, Carrougher GJ (2000c) Use of virtual reality for adjunctive treatment of adult burn pain during physical therapy: a controlled study. Clin J Pain 16(3):244–250. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002508-200009000-00010
- Hoffman HG, Garcia-Palacios A, Patterson DR, Jensen M, Furness T, Ammons JF (2001) The effectiveness of virtual reality for dental pain control: a case study. CyberPsychol Behav 4(4): 527–535. https://doi.org/10.1089/109493101750527088
- Hoffman HG, Richards TL, Coda B, Bills AR, Blough D, Richards AL, Sharar SR (2004a) Modulation of thermal pain-related brain activity with virtual reality: evidence from fMRI. Neuroreport 15(8):1245–1248. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnr.0000127826.73576.91
- Hoffman HG, Sharar SR, Coda B, Everett JJ, Ciol M, Richards T, Patterson DR (2004b) Manipulating presence influences the magnitude of virtual reality analgesia. Pain 111(1–2):162–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.06.013
- Hoffman HG, Richards TL, Van Oostrom T, Coda BA, Jensen MP, Blough DK, Sharar SR (2007) The analgesic effects of opioids and immersive virtual reality distraction: evidence from subjective and functional brain imaging assessments. Anesth Analg 105(6):1776–1783. https://doi.org/10.1213/01.ane.0000270205.45146.db
- Hoffman HG, Chambers GT, Meyer WJ, Arceneaux LL, Russell WJ, Seibel EJ, Richards TL, Sharar SR, Patterson DR (2011) Virtual reality as an adjunctive non-pharmacologic analgesic for acute burn pain during medical procedures. Ann Behav Med 41(2):183–191. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12160-010-9248-7
- Hoffman HG, Meyer WJ, Ramirez M, Roberts L, Seibel EJ, Atzori B, Sharar SR, Patterson DR (2014) Feasibility of articulated arm mounted oculus rift virtual reality goggles for adjunctive pain control during occupational therapy in pediatric burn patients. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 17(6):397–401. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2014.0058
- Holmes NP, Spence C (2004) The body schema and multisensory representation(s) of peripersonal space. Cogn Process 5(2):94–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10339-004-0013-3
- Hurd A (2021) Integration of morphine and virtual reality: pain management for adult hospice cancer patients. Walden University
- Iannetti GD, Mouraux A (2010) From the neuromatrix to the pain matrix (and back). Exp Brain Res 205(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-010-2340-1
- Indovina P, Barone D, Gallo L, Chirico A, De Pietro G, Giordano A (2018) Virtual reality as a distraction intervention to relieve pain and distress during medical procedures: a comprehensive literature review. Clin J Pain 34(9):858–877

- Kemeny A, George P, Merienne F, Colombet F, Mérienne F (2017) New VR navigation techniques to reduce cybersickness. Eng Real Virtual Real. https://doi.org/10.2352/ISSN.2470-1173.2017. 3.ERVR-097ï
- Kilteni K, Groten R, Slater M (2012) The sense of embodiment in virtual reality. Presence Teleop Virt 21(4):373–387. https://doi.org/10.1162/PRES\_a\_00124
- Kocur M, Graf S, Schwind V (2020) The impact of missing fingers in virtual reality. In: 26th ACM symposium on virtual reality software and technology, pp 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3385956.3418973
- Kokkinara E, Slater M, López-Moliner J (2015) The effects of visuomotor calibration to the perceived space and body, through embodiment in immersive virtual reality. ACM Trans Appl Percept (TAP) 13(1):1–22
- Krupić D, Žuro B, Corr PJ (2021) Anxiety and threat magnification in subjective and physiological responses of fear of heights induced by virtual reality. Personal Individ Differ 169:109720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109720
- Kumru H, Soler D, Vidal J, Navarro X, Tormos JM, Pascual-Leone A, Valls-Sole J (2013) The effects of transcranial direct current stimulation with visual illusion in neuropathic pain due to spinal cord injury: an evoked potentials and quantitative thermal testing study. Eur J Pain 17(1): 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1532-2149.2012.00167.x
- Laghlam D, Naudin C, Coroyer L, Aidan V, Malvy J, Rahoual G, Estagnasié P, Squara P (2021) Virtual reality vs. Kalinox® for management of pain in intensive care unit after cardiac surgery: a randomized study. Ann Intensive Care 11(1):74. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13613-021-00866-w
- LaViola JJ (2000) A discussion of cybersickness in virtual environments. ACM SIGCHI Bull 32(1): 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1145/333329.333344
- Lenggenhager B, Tadi T, Metzinger T, Blanke O (2007) Video ergo sum: manipulating bodily selfconsciousness. Science 317(5841):1096–1099. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1143439
- Lewis JS, Kersten P, McCabe CS, McPherson KM, Blake DR (2007) Body perception disturbance: a contribution to pain in complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS). Pain 133(1–3):111–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.013
- Llobera J, Gonzalez-Franco M, Perez-Marcos D, Valls-Solé J, Slater M, Sanchez-Vives M (2012) Virtual reality for assessment of patients suffering chronic pain: a case study. Exp Brain Res 225(1):105–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-012-3352-9
- Llobera J, González-Franco M, Perez-Marcos D, Valls-Solé J, Slater M, Sanchez-Vives MV (2013) Virtual reality for assessment of patients suffering chronic pain: a case study. Exp Brain Res 225(1):105–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-012-3352-9
- Longo MR, Betti V, Aglioti SM, Haggard P (2009) Visually induced analgesia: seeing the body reduces pain. J Neurosci 29(39):12125–12130. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3072-09. 2009
- Longo MR, Iannetti GD, Mancini F, Driver J, Haggard P (2012) Linking pain and the body: neural correlates of visually induced analgesia. J Neurosci 32(8):2601–2607. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4031-11.2012
- Lopez C, Halje P, Blanke O (2008) Body ownership and embodiment: vestibular and multisensory mechanisms. Neurophysiol Clin 38(3):149–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2007.12.006
- Lugrin JL, Latt J, Latoschik ME (2015) Avatar anthropomorphism and illusion of body ownership in VR. In: IEEE virtual reality conference, VR 2015 - proceedings, pp 229–230. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/VR.2015.7223379
- Macaluso E, Maravita A (2010) The representation of space near the body through touch and vision. Neuropsychologia 48(3):782–795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.10.010
- Maihöfner C, Handwerker HO, Neundörfer B, Birklein F (2003) Patterns of cortical reorganization in complex regional pain syndrome. Neurology 61(12):1707–1715. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. WNL.0000098939.02752.8E
- Malloy KM, Milling LS (2010) The effectiveness of virtual reality distraction for pain reduction: a systematic review. Clin Psychol Rev 30(8):1011–1018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010. 07.001

- Mancini F, Longo MR, Kammers MPM, Haggard P (2011) Visual distortion of body size modulates pain perception. Psychol Sci 22(3):325–330. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611398496
- Mancini F, Longo MR, Canzoneri E, Vallar G, Haggard P (2013) Changes in cortical oscillations linked to multisensory modulation of nociception. Eur J Neurosci 37(5):768–776. https://doi. org/10.1111/ejn.12080
- Mancini F, Wang AP, Schira MM, Isherwood ZJ, McAuley JH, Iannetti GD, Sereno MI, Moseley GL, Rae CD (2019) Fine-grained mapping of cortical somatotopies in chronic complex regional pain syndrome. J Neurosci 39(46):9185–9196. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2005-18. 2019
- Mariano TY, Wan L, Edwards RR, Lazaridou A, Ross EL, Jamison RN (2021) Online group pain management for chronic pain: preliminary results of a novel treatment approach to teletherapy. J Telemed Telecare 27(4):209–216. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X19870369
- Martini M (2016) Real, rubber or virtual: the vision of "one's own" body as a means for pain modulation. A narrative review. Conscious Cogn 43:143–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog. 2016.06.005
- Maselli A, Slater M (2013) The building blocks of the full body ownership illusion. Front Hum Neurosci 7:83. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00083
- Matamala-Gomez M, Diaz Gonzalez AM, Slater M, Sanchez-Vives MV (2019a) Decreasing pain ratings in chronic arm pain through changing a virtual body: different strategies for different pain types. J Pain 20(6):685–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2018.12.001
- Matamala-Gomez M, Donegan T, Bottiroli S, Sandrini G, Sanchez-Vives MV, Tassorelli C (2019b) Immersive virtual reality and virtual embodiment for pain relief. Front Hum Neurosci 13:279. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00279
- Matamala-Gomez M, Maselli A, Malighetti C, Realdon O, Mantovani F, Riva G (2020a) Body illusions for mental health: a systematic review. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/mk69x
- Matamala-Gomez M, Nierula B, Donegan T, Slater M, Sanchez-Vives MV (2020b) Manipulating the perceived shape and color of a virtual limb can modulate pain responses. J Clin Med 9(2): 291. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9020291
- Matamala-Gomez M, Bottiroli S, Realdon O, Riva G, Galvagni L, Platz T, Sandrini G, De Icco R, Tassorelli C (2021a) Telemedicine and virtual reality at time of COVID-19 pandemic: an overview for future perspectives in neurorehabilitation. Front Neurol 12:646902. https://doi. org/10.3389/fneur.2021.646902
- Matamala-Gomez M, Maselli A, Malighetti C, Realdon O, Mantovani F, Riva G (2021b) Virtual body ownership illusions for mental health: a narrative review. J Clin Med 10:139. https://doi. org/10.3390/jcm10010139
- May A (2008) Chronic pain may change the structure of the brain. Pain 137(1):7–15. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.02.034
- McCaul KD, Malott JM (1984) Distraction and coping with pain. Psychol Bull 95(3):516–533. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.95.3.516
- Medina J, Coslett HB (2010) From maps to form to space: touch and the body schema. Neuropsychologia 48:645–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.08.017
- Meißner M, Pfeiffer J, Pfeiffer T, Oppewal H (2019) Combining virtual reality and mobile eye tracking to provide a naturalistic experimental environment for shopper research. J Bus Res 100: 445–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.09.028
- Melzack R (1996) Gate control theory: on the evolution of pain concepts. Pain Forum 5(2): 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1082-3174(96)80050-X
- Melzack R (1999a) Pain and stress: a new perspective. In: Psychosocial factors in pain
- Melzack R (1999b) From the gate to the neuromatrix. Pain 82(Suppl 1):S121–S126. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00145-1
- Melzack R (2001) Pain and the neuromatrix in the brain. J Dent Educ 65(12):1378–1382. https:// doi.org/10.1002/j.0022-0337.2001.65.12.tb03497.x
- Melzack R, Wall PD (1965) Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150(3699):971–979. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.150.3699.971

- Merskey H (2002) Clarifying definition of neuropathic pain. Pain 96(3):408–409. https://journals. lww.com/pain/fulltext/2002/04000/Clarifying\_definition\_of\_neuropathic\_pain.27.aspx?casa\_ token=r02BmOE73rMAAAAA:69fDIRxE4XBSIIb5eAGNDIY7Ur4pFa6i\_ZUbvNg22 9QTDclDl5aAihozgA2iO\_ePjsCGUNmepVTosFuCLXNeoGI
- Moseley GL (2003) A pain neuromatrix approach to patients with chronic pain. Man Ther 8(3): 130–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1356-689X(03)00051-1
- Moseley GL (2007) Using visual illusion to reduce at-level neuropathic pain in paraplegia. Pain 130(3):294–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.01.007
- Moseley GL, Parsons TJ, Spence C (2008) Visual distortion of a limb modulates the pain and swelling evoked by movement. Curr Biol 18(22):R1047–R1048. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. CUB.2008.09.031
- Moseley GL, Gallace A, Spence C (2012) Bodily illusions in health and disease: physiological and clinical perspectives and the concept of a cortical "body matrix.". Neurosci Biobehav Rev 36(1): 34–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.03.013
- Newport R, Preston C (2010) Pulling the finger off disrupts agency, embodiment and peripersonal space. Perception 39(9):1296–1298. https://doi.org/10.1068/p6742
- Newport R, Pearce R, Preston C (2010) Fake hands in action: embodiment and control of supernumerary limbs. Exp Brain Res 204(3):385–395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-009-2104-y
- Nierula B, Martini M, Matamala-Gomez M, Slater M, Sanchez-Vives MV (2017) Seeing an embodied virtual hand is analgesic contingent on colocation. J Pain 18(6):645–655
- Petkova VI, Ehrsson HH (2008) If I were you: perceptual illusion of body swapping. PLoS One 3 (12):e3832
- Pleger B, Tegenthoff M, Schwenkreis P, Janssen F, Ragert P, Dinse HR, Völker B, Zenz M, Maier C (2004) Mean sustained pain levels are linked to hemispherical side-to-side differences of primary somatosensory cortex in the complex regional pain syndrome I. Exp Brain Res 155(1): 115–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1738-4
- Ploghaus A, Tracey I, Gati JS, Clare S, Menon RS, Matthews PM, Rawlins JNP (1999) Dissociating pain from its anticipation in the human brain. Science 284(5422):1979–1981. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.284.5422.1979
- Pozeg P, Palluel E, Ronchi R, Solcà M, Al-Khodairy AW, Jordan X, Kassouha A, Blanke O (2017) Virtual reality improves embodiment and neuropathic pain caused by spinal cord injury. Neurology 89(18):1894–1903. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004585
- Preston C, Newport R (2011) Analgesic effects of multisensory illusions in osteoarthritis. Rheumatology 50(12):2314–2315. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/ker104
- Price D (1999) Psychological mechanisms of pain and analgesia. Soc Esp Dolor 8:283–285. http:// revista.sedolor.es/pdf/2001\_04\_10.pdf
- Ramachandran VS, Altschuler EL (2009) The use of visual feedback, in particular mirror visual feedback, in restoring brain function. Brain 132(7):1693–1710. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/ awp135
- Ramachandran VS, Hirstein W (1998) The perception of phantom limbs. The D. O. Hebb lecture. Brain 121(9):1603–1630. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.9.1603
- Ramachandran VS, Brang D, McGeoch PD (2009) Size reduction using mirror visual feedback (MVF) reduces phantom pain. Neurocase 15(5):357–360. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13554790903081767
- Rehm IC, Foenander E, Wallace K, Abbott J-AM, Kyrios M, Thomas N (2016) What role can avatars play in e-mental health interventions? exploring new models of client-therapist interaction. Front Psychiatry 7:186. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPSYT.2016.00186
- Ribu L, Holmen H, Torbjornsen A, Wahl AK, Grottland A, Smastuen MC, Elind E, Bergmo TS, Breivik E, Arsand E (2013) Low-intensity self-management intervention for persons with type 2 diabetes using a mobile phone-based diabetes diary, with and without health counseling and motivational interviewing: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2(2): e34. https://doi.org/10.2196/resprot.2768

- Riva G, Mantovani F, Capideville CS, Preziosa A, Morganti F, Villani D, Gaggioli A, Botella C, Alcañiz M (2007) Affective interactions using virtual reality: the link between presence and emotions. Cyberpsychol Behav. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2006.9993
- Riva G, Wiederhold BK, Mantovani F (2019) Neuroscience of virtual reality: from virtual exposure to embodied medicine. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 22(1):82–96. https://doi.org/10.1089/ cyber.2017.29099.gri
- Rivier C (1995) Luteinizing-hormone-releasing hormone, gonadotropins, and gonadal steroids in stress. Ann N Y Acad Sci 771(1):187–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1995. tb44680.x
- Romano D, Maravita A (2014) The visual size of one's own hand modulates pain anticipation and perception. Neuropsychologia 57(1):93–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014. 03.002
- Salomons TV, Iannetti GD, Liang M, Wood JN (2016) The "pain matrix" in pain-free individuals. JAMA Neurol 73(6):755–756. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2016.0653
- Scates D, Dickinson JI, Sullivan K, Cline H, Balaraman R (2020) Using nature-inspired virtual reality as a distraction to reduce stress and pain among cancer patients. Environ Behav 52(8): 895–918. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916520916259
- Schneider SM, Workman ML (1999) Effects of virtual reality on symptom distress in children receiving chemotherapy. CyberPsychol Behav 2(2):125–134. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.1999. 2.125
- Schneider SM, Ellis M, Coombs WT, Shonkwiler EL, Folsom LC (2003) Virtual reality intervention for older women with breast cancer. Cyberpsychol Behav 6(3):301–307. https://doi.org/10. 1089/109493103322011605
- Scuteri D, Matamala-Gomez M, Bottiroli S, Corasaniti MT, De Icco R, Bagetta G, Tonin P (2020) Pain assessment and treatment in dementia at the time of coronavirus disease covid-19. Front Neurol 11:890. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00890
- Serino A, Haggard P (2010) Touch and the body. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 34(2):224–236. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.04.004
- Serino A, Noel JP, Mange R, Canzoneri E, Pellencin E, Ruiz JB et al (2018) Peripersonal space: an index of multisensory body–environment interactions in real, virtual, and mixed realities. Front ICT 4:31
- Sharar SR, Alamdari A, Hoffer C, Hoffman HG, Jensen MP, Patterson DR (2016) Circumplex model of affect: a measure of pleasure and arousal during virtual reality distraction analgesia. Games Health J 5(3):197–202. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2015.0046
- Slater M (2009) Place illusion and plausibility can lead to realistic behaviour in immersive virtual environments. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 364(1535):3549–3557. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rstb.2009.0138
- Slater M (2014) Grand challenges in virtual environments. Front Robot AI 1. https://doi.org/10. 3389/frobt.2014.00003
- Slater M (2018) Immersion and the illusion of presence in virtual reality. Br J Psychol 109(3): 431–433. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12305
- Slater M, Sanchez-Vives MV (2016) Enhancing our lives with immersive virtual reality. Front Robot AI 3:74. https://doi.org/10.3389/frobt.2016.00074
- Slater M, Usoh M (1993) Representations systems, perceptual position, and presence in immersive virtual environments. Presence Teleop Virt 2(3):221–233. https://doi.org/10.1162/pres.1993.2. 3.221
- Slater M, Pérez Marcos D, Ehrsson H, Sanchez-Vives MV (2008) Towards a digital body: the virtual arm illusion. Front Hum Neurosci 6
- Slater M, Spanlang B, Corominas D (2010) Simulating virtual environments within virtual environments as the basis for a psychophysics of presence. In: ACM SIGGRAPH 2010 papers, SIGGRAPH 2010. https://doi.org/10.1145/1778765.1778829
- Solcà M, Ronchi R, Bello-Ruiz J, Schmidlin T, Herbelin B, Luthi F, Konzelmann M, Beaulieu JY, Delaquaize F, Schnider A, Guggisberg AG, Serino A, Blanke O (2018) Heartbeat-enhanced

immersive virtual reality to treat complex regional pain syndrome. Neurology 91(5):e1–e11. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000005905

- Soler MD, Kumru H, Pelayo R, Vidal J, Tormos JM, Fregni F, Navarro X, Pascual-Leone A (2010) Effectiveness of transcranial direct current stimulation and visual illusion on neuropathic pain in spinal cord injury. Brain 133(9):2565–2577. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq184
- Stanton TR, Gilpin HR, Edwards L, Moseley GL, Newport R (2018) Illusory resizing of the painful knee is analgesic in symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. PeerJ 6:e5206. https://doi.org/10.7717/ peerj.5206
- Stasolla F, Matamala-Gomez M, Bernini S, Caffò AO, Bottiroli S (2021) Virtual reality as a technological-aided solution to support communication in persons with neurodegenerative diseases and acquired brain injury during COVID-19 pandemic. Front Public Health 8: 635426. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.635426
- Tajadura-Jiménez A, Grehl S, Tsakiris M (2012) The other in me: interpersonal multisensory stimulation changes the mental representation of the self. PLoS One 7(7):14. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0040682
- Tanja-Dijkstra K, Pahl S, White MP, Andrade J, Qian C, Bruce M, May J, Moles DR (2014) Improving dental experiences by using virtual reality distraction: a simulation study. PLoS One 9(3):e91276. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091276
- Themelis K, Newport R (2018) An investigation of contextual factors in the application of multisensory illusions for analgesia in hand osteoarthritis. Rheumatol Adv Pract 2(2):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/rap/rky019
- Thériault R, Olson JA, Krol SA, Raz A (2021) Body swapping with a Black person boosts empathy: using virtual reality to embody another. Q J Exp Psychol 74(12):2057–2074
- Triberti S, Repetto C, Riva G (2014) Psychological factors influencing the effectiveness of virtual reality-based analgesia: a systematic review. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 17(6):335–345. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2014.0054
- Trost Z, France C, Anam M, Shum C (2021) Virtual reality approaches to pain: toward a state of the science. Pain 162(2):325–331. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.0000000000000000000
- Tsakiris M, Prabhu G, Haggard P (2006) Having a body versus moving your body: how agency structures body-ownership. Conscious Cogn 15(2):423–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog. 2005.09.004
- Tsay A, Allen TJ, Proske U, Giummarra MJ (2015) Sensing the body in chronic pain: a review of psychophysical studies implicating altered body representation. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 52: 221–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.03.004
- Valeriani M, Betti V, Le Pera D, De Armas L, Miliucci R, Restuccia D, Avenanti A, Aglioti SM (2008) Seeing the pain of others while being in pain: a laser-evoked potentials study. NeuroImage 40(3):1419–1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.12.056
- Watkins LR, Maier SF (2000) The pain of being sick: implications of immune-to-brain communication for understanding pain. Annu Rev Psychol 51:29–57. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. psych.51.1.29
- Wender R, Hoffman HG, Hunner HH, Seibel EJ, Patterson DR, Sharar SR (2009) Interactivity influences the magnitude of virtual reality analgesia. J Cyber Ther Rehabil 2(1):27–33
- Wesslein AK, Spence C, Frings C (2014) Vision affects tactile target and distractor processing even when space is task-irrelevant. Front Psychol 5:84. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00084
- Wiederhold BK, Wiederhold MD (2012) Managing pain in military populations with virtual reality. Pain syndromes – from recruitment to returning troops. NATO Sci Peace Secur Ser E Hum Soc Dyn 91:75–93

- Wiederhold BK, Gao K, Sulea C, Wiederhold MD (2014a) Virtual reality as a distraction technique in chronic pain patients. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 17(6):346–352. https://doi.org/10. 1089/cyber.2014.0207
- Wiederhold MD, Gao K, Wiederhold BK (2014b) Clinical use of virtual reality distraction system to reduce anxiety and pain in dental procedures. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 17(6):359–365. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2014.0203
- Won AS, Pandita S, Kruzan KP (2020) Social interaction and pain threshold in virtual reality. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 23(12):829–845. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2020.0055
- Yang S, Chang MC (2019) Chronic pain: structural and functional changes in brain structures and associated negative affective states. Int J Mol Sci 20(13):3130